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The Potala Palace of Lhasa

—a Sanctuary on the ‘Roof of the World’
bv Xiao Chen

Lhasa, capital of Tibet Autonomous
Region, is under sunshine for 3,000 hours a
year, so it is also called “City of Sunshine”.
It has preserved many historical relics and
ancient buildings through its history of
1,300 years. The most famous is the Potala
Palace.

The 13-story Potala Palace in the heart
of old Lhasa city rises up the south wall of
the Red Mountain 3, 700 meters above sea
level, making it the highest Buddhist sanc-
tuary in the world. Its lofty roofs with gild-
ed copper tiles present a magnificent sight
as far as 30 kilometers away in the Lhasa
River Valley, giving much comfort to trav-
elers and pilgrims making their way to the
holy place.

The Potala Palace is composed of two
parts: the White Palace and the Red Palace.
Stone stairs lead to the eastem gate and a
platform 100 meters up the hill. The palace
wall is up to five meters thick. Corridors
and stairways connect the various halls and
chambers up and down.

On a graded foundation, the Hall of
Avalokitesvara, main building of the
palace, rises 117. 9 meters against the
southern slope of the hill. It is 360 meters
long from east to west and 270 meters wide
from south to north, and covers a floor
space of 130,000 square meters.

In the seventh century Songtsan Gambo
(617-650) unified Tibet and founded the
Tubo regime. He built the Potala Palace for
his bride, Princess Wencheng of the Tang
Dynasty in central China. The construction
included three thick walls of huge stone
blocks and 999 rooms. The king had studied
Buddhist scriptures on the Red Mountain in
a cave-dwelling. So the total number of
rooms with the cave-dwelling came to

1,000. The halls and chambers were all dec-
orated with precious ornaments. Bells hung
from their eaves. A bridge of silver and
copper spanned the space between the main
building and the living quarters of the king’s
two wives. But little is left of the original
palace, it having been twice destroyed by
lightning and war.

The Potala Palace we see today was
reconstructed in 1645 by Lozang Gyatso, the
fifth Dalai Lama (1617-1682) who founded
the Ganden Phodrang regime in Tibet. He
built phodrang karpo (White Palace) to the
east and west of the Hall of Avalokitesvara
which had remained from King Songtsan
Gambo's time. The construction lasted eight
years. In 1653 the fifth Dalai Lama returned
from Beijing where he had had an audience
with Emperor Shun Zhi (reigned from 1643
to 1661) and, very pleased with the White
Palace, decided to move his residence and
office from Drepung Monastery to it.

The Red Palace was built between 1690
and 1693 in memory of the fifth Dalai
Lama. It makes up the central part of the
complex and is surrounded by the buildings
of the White Palace. A hall was specially
built to keep the salt-dried and embalmed
remains of the fifth Dalai Lama who had
died eight years earlier.

A recommended route for visitors to
the Potala Palace starts at the eastern gate.
Through the four-meter-long gateway one
comes to the 1,600-square-meter Deyangxia
Terrace. Here, celebrations are held on
holidays or religious occasions, with songs
and dances. A stairway leads from there to
various parts of the entire palace. The walls
of the stairway are covered with murals.
Those on the eastern wall depict a sketch
map of Chang’an (present-day Xi'an, then
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The Potala Palace of Lhasa

capital of the Tang Dynasty) and the Tang
Emperor testing the wisdom of the Tibetan
envoy who came to ask for the hand of a
Tang princess for King Songtsan Gambo.
Those on the northern wall describe the
scenes of Princess Wenchang on her way to
marry King Songtsan Gambo in Lhasa.

Further along the stairway is the East
Main Hall. The largest building of the
White Palace was built in 1645. Its oversized
roof is supported by 48 thick wooden
columns. The poor light adds more solem-
nity and mystery to the immense interior. In
1653 Emperor Shun Zhi conferred the formal
title on the fifth Dalai Lama and sent to him
a gold seal and mandate. After that cere-
monies for the assumption of office by the
Dalai Lamas were presided over in this hall
by ministers from the Qing court in Beijing.
Major religious and political activities also
took place here.

The Dalai Lama’s living chambers,
called the East and West Sunlight Halls,
were at the crest of the White Palace. These
include prayer halls, halls housing Buddhist
sutras, sitting rooms and bedrooms, all lux-
uriously furnished and decorated with jewels
and other treasures. The Dalai Lama chant-
ed scriptures, held morning court and re-
ceived high-ranking lamas in the West Sun-
light Hall. In his leisure time he would take
a walk on the spacious platform outside the
Sunlight Halls, admiring the mountains in
distance and watching the crowds in Lhasa
city.

The Red Palace contains mainly prayer
halls and eight stupas (dome-like mounds)
in which the embalmed bodies of the dead
Dalai Lamas rest in a meditation position.
The tops of the stupas are covered with
gilded copper tiles and decorated with gold
leaf and precious stones. The stupa of the
fifth Dalai Lama is the oldest and the
largest. The last one is for the 13th Dalai
Lama (1876-1933). The largest hall of the
Red Palace is devoted to the fifth Dalai
Lama. A pair of embroidered curtains in the
hall were a present to the fifth Dalai Lama
from Emperor Kang Xi (reigned from 1661
to 1722). The emperor ordered a workshop
built to make these curtains in one year.
When a new Dalai Lama assumed the office,
these curtains would be hung up in a con-

12

spicuous place in the hall.

The stupa with the remains of the fifth
Dalai Lama is 14.85 meters high, covered
with gold leaf and studded with pearls,
jadeite, agate and precious stones. Its con-
struction used 3, 721 kilograms of gold and
32,557 kilograms of silver. Beside the body
of the fifth Dalai Lama the stupa also con-
tains 19,180 kilograms of barley and wheat,
and large quantities of butter, tea, sandal-
wood, precious stones, silk and Buddhist
scriptures.

Built between 1934 and 1936 the three-
story Stupa Hall of the 13th Dalai Lama is
located to the western end of the Red
Palace. The walls on the top floor are cov-
ered with murals depicting episodes of the
13th Dalai Lama’s life. The stupa, 14 me-
ters high, is covered with gold leaf and dec-
orated with precious stones like other
stupas. One can enter the stupa through an
opening in the front side, known as “Eye-
sight Door”. A latticed screen divides the
interior of the stupa into two parts. An im-
age of the Eleven-Faced Avalokitesvara with
Thousand Arms and Thousand Eyes is wor-
shipped in a niche in the front part. A Bud-
dha bed in the rear part is equipped with a
canopy, curtains, quilts and pillows. A
wooden chest on the bed contains the body
of the 13th Dalai Lama. On a desk in front
of the bed are musical instruments, Bud-
dhist scriptures, an ink bottle and bamboo
writing brushes, used by the 13th Dalai
Lama. An exquisite mandala (a Buddhist
ornamental object) by the stupa is made
with more than 200,000 pearls and coral
beads strung together. A four-tiered frame-
work in the center of the mandala is topped
with a gold tower which keeps a statue of
the 13th Dalai Lama. The statue was cast
with 31 kilograms of silver. The tassels
around the gold tower are strings of pearls
and coral beads.

Up to the second floor from the West
Main Hall one enters a gallery. The paint-
ings on the walls describe the construction
scenes of the Red Palace. Further ahead is
the cave-dwelling where King Songtsan
Gambo read Buddhist scriptures. The 1,300
year-old room keeps the statues of King
Songtsan Gambo, Princess Wencheng,
Princess Bhrikuti (Chi Zun) of Nepal (the



king's another wife) and court officials. The
Hall of Awvalokitesvara above King Songtsan

Gambo's cave-dwelling is the oldest building
of the Potala Palace. It is said Songtsan
Gambo was an incamation of this bodhisatt-
va. The fifth Dalai Lama read Buddhist
scriptures in this hall. Eight Buddha statues
of sandalwood, a present from Emperor
Shun Zhi to the fifth Dalai Lama, are dis-
played in this hall.

The Trilokya Hall, built in 1679, is the
highest building of the Red Palace and the
center of the whole Potala Palace. A memo-
rial tablet inscribed with the title of Emperor
Kang Xi in this hall was brought from Bei-
jing by the seventh Dalai Lama (1708-1757).
This hall also has a portrait of Emperor
Qian Long ( reigned 1735-1795) brought
from Beijing by the eighth Dalai Lama
(1758-184) .

The Potala Palace is a sacred site of
Tibetan Buddhist followers and a treasure of
architecture in China. It is a perfect combi-
nation of an imperial palace and a Buddhist
monastery to meet the needs of the ancient
rule in Tibet where the Dalai Lama was in
charge both of the religious and civil
affairs. The imposing complex evokes re-
spect for the awesome power of the Buddha.
Inside the different quarters housed all the
functional organs of a government and pro-
vided living and work places for government
officials and lamas.

The palace stone foundations are laid
deep into the Red Mountain as if the build-
ings grew out of the solid rock. The outer
wall, several meters thick, had copper
poured into its interstices to give it strength
and resistance to earthquakes. The upper
structure of the palace is of wood. Spaces
are left between the wooden structure and
the stone walls to serve as an insulating lay-
er. Since many construction workers came
from central China, Mongolia and Nepal,
their ethnical features can be seen in the
layout, exterior and interior decorations
and paintings.

The Potala Palace houses a large
amount of cultural relics and jewelry. The
number of Buddhist statues of gold, jade,
bronze, wood and stone comes to more than
10,000. There are numerous Buddhist por-
traits. The murals, outstanding as works of

art, were done by Tibetan artists in the 17th
century. Some are on religious themes,
others show the life of the Tibetan people at
the time. No one has ever counted how
many murals in the palace. But a corridor
on the second floor of the Red Palace alone
contains 698 secticns.

The Potala Palace also houses a large
number of early copies of Buddhist sutras in
Sanskrit, including a copy with the words
pricked out on palm leaves by needles. It is
the earliest Buddhist scripture brought from
India to Tibet. The “Ganzhur” sutra was
written in gold powder. Another sutra,
“Danzhur” of more than 100 volumes, was
written in a mixture of ground gold, silver,
coral and sea shells. The Potala Palace also
keeps the jade seals and mandates conferred
on the Tibetan aristocrats by the central
government after the Yuan Dynasty (1206-
1368), and many valuable musical instru-
ments, prayer banners, Tibetan carpets and
curtains.

The Chinese government pays great at-

tention to the preservation of the Potala
Palace. In 1961 the State Council placed the
palace on the list of cultural sites to be ac-
corded special protection. It also set up a
research group to sort out and study the
vast number of objects stored there and a
special fund for its repair. In 1988 the cen-
tral government decided to carry out an
overall renovation of the Potala Palace. A
team of specialists formulated a plan after
three months of intensive study. The giant
project began in October 1989. Workers and
artisans, mainly Tibetans, finished the 77
renovation items on 28,000 square meters in
more than three years. The walls were rein-
forced with cracks sealed up; rotten pillars,
beams and rafters were replaced; murals
were cleaned to show their original bright
colors; and fire hazards were eliminated.
Over the three years of work, no single ob-
ject in the Potala Palace was damaged or
missing. The workers did a wonderful job
when they reinforced the Stupa Hall of the
fiftth Dalai Lama—they did not remove any
pillar or beam of the roof, thus retaining the
original state of the structure. Now this
grand edifice of the Potala Palace looks
even brighter under the blue sky on the Ti-
bet Plateau.
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Lineage of the Dalai Lamas

First Dalai Lama Gedun Truppa (1391-1474)
Second Dalai Lama Gedun Gyatso (1475-142)
Third Dalai Lama Sonam Gyatso (1543-1588)
Fourth Dalai Lama Yonten Gyatso (1589-1616)
Fifth Dalai Lama Lozang Gyatso | (1617-1682)
Sixth Dalai Lama Tsangyang Gyatso | (1683-1706)
Seventh Dalai Lama Kelzang Gyatso | (1708-1757)
Eighth Dalai Lama Jampal Gyatso (1758-1804)
Ninth Dalai Lama Lungtok Gyatso | (1805-1815)
Tenth Dalai Lama Teutrim Gyatso | (1816-1837)
Eleventh Dalai Lama | Khedrup Gyatso | (1838-1855)
Twelveth Dalai Lama Trinley Gyatso (1856-1875)
Thirteenth Dalai Lama | Tupden Gyatso | (1876-1933)
Fourteenth Dalai Lama Tenzin Gyatso (1934- )
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b, RHRFRNEE. HEEAN TR BN, wall of the Red Mountain 3,700 meters above sea lev-
el, the only Buddhist site in the world at such a high
altitude.

Sacred Site in the
‘City of Sunshine’

AR P E AL T RIETH AL b, 53 13 The Potala Palace on the Red Moun-
FEHK, thEFLAT7iH4e, 17 thgmpi®  tain in Lhasa occupies an area of 130, 000
By, HRSENMEE. ki Square meters. It was built in the seventh
EHERE. ERESAEE. 5Fk . century and was reconstructed in the 17th

3 X . century. Through its history of 1,300 years
BRNRREE. ARREE. ER. GEEME it was the residence and office of nine Ti-

MY E. BERERHSBCUE Y IE. betan kings and ten Dalai Lamas. The whole
complex is divided into two parts: the
White Palace and the Red Palace. The great
museum of Tibetan Buddhist culture con-
tains large quantities of murals, tangka por-
traits, Buddhist images and jewels.
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